IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DOCKET NO. 2007-IA-00565-SCT

BARTHEL D. WAGGONER and JACQUELINE M. WAGGONER
(APPELLANTS)

versus

EDWARD A. WILLIAMSON, Individually; EDWARD A. WILLIAMSON, P.A.;
and MICHAEL J. MILLER
(APPELLEES)

SECOND APPELLANTS' BRIEF

INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL - ADAMS COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT
No. 03-KV-0151-J

Oral Argument Requested

Respectfully submitted on the 29th day of January 2008 by:

David Jefferson Dye (pro hac admittee)
DAVID JEFFERSON DYE, L.L.C.
1204 Napoleon Avenue
New Orleans, Louisiana 70115
Telephone: (504) 891-4306
Facsimile: (504) 891-4315

Gregg L. Spyridon (MS bar. No. [REDACTED])
Philip G. Smith (MS bar No. [REDACTED])
SPYRIDON, PALERMO & DORNAN

I. Issues and Questions Presented to the Court:

- A. Did the trial court exceed its authority under Rule 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure by ruling on factual matters at summary judgment including particularly whether the Waggoners **knowingly agreed to particular but not all** line-items contained on a litigation settlement disbursement statement?
- B. Does a client's signature on a litigation settlement disbursement statement and associated release documentation absolve the settling attorney from liability and damages resulting from the failure to disclose that the settlement was an aggregate settlement and related settlement information as required by the representation contract, settlement documents, common law, and Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct 1.8 (g) and 1.2(a)?
- C. Can a trial court on summary judgment eliminate the recognized remedy of attorney fee forfeiture or disgorgement when genuinely disputed issues of material fact were noted by the trial court in support of breach of fiduciary duty, breach of contract, negligent misrepresentations, and fraud causes of action?

II. Statement of the Case

A. Procedural History and Interlocutory Order.

This Second Appellants' Brief is filed in response to the Supreme Court of Mississippi's December 20, 2007 Order lifting the automatic stay granted to Appellee Michael J. Miller due to his bankruptcy filing.¹ The Court's December 20, 2007 Order reissued and set a briefing schedule pursuant to M.R.A.P. 31 with respect to Mr. Miller. This interlocutory appeal by the Plaintiffs, Barthel D. Waggoner and Jacqueline M. Waggoner, hereinafter the "Waggoners", seeks the reversal of the trial court's entry of a partial summary judgment favoring the defendants in *Barthel D. Waggoner and Jacqueline M. Waggoner v. Edward A. Williamson, Individually, Edward A.*

¹ *In Re: Michael J. Miller*, no. 07-02462, U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Mississippi.

Williamson, P.A.; and Michael J. Miller, Individually, No. 03-KV-0151-J.² The Waggoners also seek a remand to the Circuit Court for Adams County, State of Mississippi for a trial by jury on the merits.³

The Waggoners filed suit against Edward A. Williamson and Edward A. Williamson, P.A., hereinafter "Williamson", and Michael J. Miller, hereinafter "Miller", claiming four causes of action: breach of fiduciary duty; breach of contract; negligent misrepresentation; and fraud.⁴ These four causes of action arose from Williamson's and Miller's representation of the Waggoners in the Phen-fen diet drug litigation *Annette Williams, et al. v. American Home Products Corporation, et al.*, No. 2000-207, Circuit Court of Holmes County, Mississippi, hereinafter referred to as the "Annette Williams litigation".⁵

Through extensive discovery, the Waggoners uncovered numerous breaches of fiduciary duties, breaches of contract, intentional misrepresentations, and acts of fraud committed by Williamson and Miller during the *Annette Williams* litigation.⁶ With the assistance of Expert Donna Ingram, a Certified Public Accountant, Certified Forensic Accountant, and Certified Fraud Examiner, the Waggoners were able to document \$1,165,228 in compensatory damages arising from Williamson's and Miller's wrongdoings.⁷ In an effort to avoid the consequences of their actions, Williamson and

² Interlocutory Order, R. vol. 12, p. 1581-1582 and Records Excerpts, tab 2.

³ The Record before the Court has been divided in three sections with consecutive numbering for each: Record (volumes 1-12), Transcript, and Exhibits (volumes 1-7). The plaintiffs have designated their reference to each in the following manner: Record: R, Transcript: T, and Exhibits: E and have provided an electronic copy (PDF) copy of the record herewith.

⁴ Original Complaint, R. vol. 1, p. 1-19 & Amended Complaint R. vol. 2, p. 168 - 182.

⁵ Attorney Edward Blackmon, Jr. also provided representation in *Annette Williams, et al. v. American Home Products Corporation, et al.*, No. 2000-207, Circuit Court of Holmes County, Mississippi but is not a party to these proceedings.

⁶ See *Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment* (R. vol. 11, p. 1496 - 1514).

⁷ Ingram Affidavit, E. vol 4, p. 562.

Miller each filed *Motions for Summary Judgment* in August of 2005 immediately prior to Hurricane Katrina.⁸ On March 17, 2006, the Waggoners opposed Williamson's and Miller's *Motions for Summary Judgment* by filing their *Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment* and attaching thereto multiple supporting affidavits and exhibits.⁹ & ¹⁰ In the afternoon of March 27, 2006 at a lengthy and information packed hearing, Judge Forrest A. Johnson, Adams County Circuit Court Judge, heard Williamson's and Miller's *Motions for Summary Judgment* and multiple other motions filed by plaintiffs and defendants. Nearly one year later, on March 21, 2007, Judge Johnson issued the Interlocutory Order now appealed and attached to it the March 27, 2006 hearing transcript providing the court's reasons for the entry of the partial summary judgment in favor of Williamson and Miller.¹¹

The March 21, 2007 Interlocutory Order absolves Williamson and Miller from liability and damages arising from their admitted failures to disclose material facts and their wrongdoings in connection with the aggregate settlement reached in the *Annette Williams* litigation.¹² The Interlocutory Order eliminates the remedy of attorney fee forfeiture or disgorgement which is a remedy previously recognized by this Court and other common-law courts in instances when a lawyer breaches a fiduciary duty he owes to his clients. Additionally, the Interlocutory Order stands for

⁸ Miller, R. vol. 7, p. 951-960, Williamson, R. vol. 6, p. 787-802.

⁹ *Waggoner Opposition Memorandum*, R. vol. 11, p. 1496-1514.

¹⁰ Please note that the Volume 11 of the Record provided by the Adams County Circuit Court contains two sequential pages each numbered 1496. The Waggoners' Opposition Memorandum to the Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment starts on the second page numbered 1496 in Volume 11.

¹¹ Interlocutory Order, R. vol. 12, p. 1581-1582 and Record Excerpts, tabs 2 and 3.

¹² The settlement was an aggregate settlement. See Williamson Depo., E. vol. 2, p. 151, transcript pg. 112, lns. 7-12 and Miller Depo., E. vol. 2, p. 209, transcript pg. 76, lns. 5 -20. Williamson and Miller admitted their failure to disclose information to clients. See Williamson Depo., E. vol. 2, p. 152, transcript pg. 117, lns. 2-21 and Miller Depo., E. vol. 2, p. 213, transcript pg. 92, lns. 6-20, and E. vol. 2, p. 215, transcript pg. 98, lns. 1-12.

the proposition that a client's written acceptance of a settlement, which unbeknownst to the client was a part of an aggregate settlement governed by Rule 1.8 (g) of the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct, ratifies the representing attorneys' intentional withholding and non-disclosure of information necessary for the client's informed consent and agreement to the settlement as dictated by Rule 1.8(g). Furthermore, the Interlocutory Order absolves Williamson and Miller from liability and damages resulting from their wrongdoings including notably the breach of the duty of loyalty and failures to comply with the laws of the State of Mississippi and the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct, particularly Rules 1.8 (g) and 1.2 (a).

The Waggoners appeal the Interlocutory Order because the order contains legal and factual errors and represents an improper attempt by the trial court to resolve factual disputes on summary judgment. Discovery in this matter resulted in the production of more than 60,000 documents many hundreds of which the plaintiffs and defendants presented as pleadings and exhibits to the court in preparation for the March 27, 2006 hearing. Most importantly, the Waggoners presented numerous genuinely disputed issues of material fact in preparation for the March 27, 2006 hearing contained in *Plaintiffs' Itemization of Disputed Facts in Response to Defendant Michael Miller's Itemization of Undisputed Facts* and in *Plaintiffs' Itemization of Disputed Facts in Response to Defendant Edward A. Williamson, Individually, and Edward A. Williamson, P.A.'s Itemization of Facts Relied Upon and Not Genuinely Disputed*.¹³ This Second Appellants' Brief again identifies the genuinely disputed issues of material fact between the Appellants and Appellees and demonstrates the trial court's error in ruling on these factual matters.

¹³ R. vol 11, pp. 1526 - 36 and R. vol 11, pp. 1537 - 58.

The Waggoners respectfully argue and pray that this Court reverse the partial summary judgment granted by the trial court in its March 21, 2007 Interlocutory Order and remand the case to the Circuit Court for Adams County for a trial by jury on the merits. Reversal and remand in this case is proper as dictated by the laws of the United States, the State of Mississippi, and the laws of other common law states, including particularly New York and Texas each of which have considered factual circumstances similar to those now presented to the Court.¹⁴

Furthermore, reversal and remand is necessary because the March 21, 2007 Interlocutory Order noted the existence of genuinely disputed issues of material fact relating to the elements of each of the Waggoners' four causes of action but nevertheless the trial court granted partial summary judgment. These genuinely disputed issues of material fact were clearly raised in the *Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition to the Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment* and the numerous affidavits and exhibits attached thereto as well as the previously referenced itemizations of disputed facts. The Waggoners respectfully pray that upon reversal of the partial summary judgment and remand to the Circuit Court of Adams County for further proceedings that all forms of remedy permitted by this Court be available to the Waggoners including specifically compensatory damages, attorney fee forfeiture or disgorgement, and punitive damages.

B. Factual Statement

In late 1999, Barthel D. Waggoner, a resident of Adams County, Mississippi, sustained severe and disabling injuries resulting from the ingestion of diet drugs

¹⁴ *New York Diet Drug Litigation v. Wyeth - Ayerst Laboratories*, 2007 WL 969426, *4 (N.Y. Sup. March 27, 2007) and *Burrow v. Acre*, 997 S.W.2d 229 (Tx. 1999).

manufactured by the American Home Products Corporation ("AHP").¹⁵ Instead of joining a class-action suit against AHP, Mr. Waggoner opted-out and sought individualized representation from Attorney Edward A. Williamson ("Williamson").¹⁶ Williamson undertook the representation of Barthel Waggoner and his wife Jacqueline Waggoner in the *Annette Williams* litigation filed on May 23, 2000.¹⁷ Despite representations that the Waggoners would be and in fact were represented individually, Williamson represented more than thirty (30) named and unnamed plaintiffs from Mississippi in the *Annette Williams* litigation.¹⁸

Without disclosure to or approval from the Waggoners, Williamson associated with and entered into a fee sharing agreement with Michael J. Miller ("Miller") from Virginia and Edward Blackmon, Jr. from Holmes County.¹⁹ At the time of his association, Miller represented at least fourteen (14) clients located in Washington, D.C. and Virginia in substantially similar litigation against AHP.²⁰ After his association with Williamson, Miller represented these fourteen (14) out-of-state clients against AHP via the *Annette Williams* litigation pending in Holmes County. Williamson has described his business relationship with Michael Miller in diet drug litigation as a "joint venture".²¹

On April 24, 2001, after less than one year of pursuing the *Annette Williams* litigation, Miller negotiated a \$73,500,000 aggregate settlement ("Settlement Amount")

¹⁵ Original Complaint, R. vol. 1, p. 1-19 & Amended Complaint R. vol. 2, p. 168-182.

¹⁶ Waggoner Affidavits, E. vol. 1, p. 51-54 and E. vol. 1, p. 55-58.

¹⁷ *Annette Williams, et al. v. American Home Products Corp., et al.*, No. 2002-207, Circuit Court of Holmes County, Mississippi.

¹⁸ Waggoner Affidavits, E. vol. 1, p. 51-54 and E. vol. 1, p. 55-58.

¹⁹ Waggoner Affidavits, E. vol. 1, p. 51-54 and E. vol. 1, p. 55-58.

²⁰ Miller Depo., E. vol. 3, p. 192, transcript p. 9, lns. 13-19 and E. vol. 3, p. 229, transcript p. 156 ln. 15 - p. 157, ln. 7.

²¹ Williamson Depo., Exhibit vol. 1, p. 132.

with the AHP. The *Annette Williams* litigation settlement with AHP, effective April 24, 2001, included thirty-one (31) Mississippi claimants, including the Waggoners, and Miller's fourteen (14) claimants from Washington D.C. and the State of Virginia.²² From the \$73.5 million dollar settlement, the thirty-one (31) Mississippi claimants were allocated a total of \$55 million dollars, and the remaining \$18.5 million dollars were allocated to the fourteen (14) Washington D.C. and Virginia clients. The division between the Mississippi and the Washington - Virginia clients was performed at the direction of Williamson and Miller rather than the AHP.

Williamson and Miller themselves then further allocated the \$55 million dollars among the thirty-one (31) Mississippi claimants rather than seeking the appointment of a special master or obtaining a court-approved disbursement plan.²³ In making this allocation of the \$55 million dollars among the thirty-one (31) Mississippi claimants, Williamson and Miller, by their own admissions, failed to disclose the following information to the Waggoners and other Mississippi claimants participating in the aggregate settlement:²⁴

1. The existence and amount of the aggregate settlement received from AHP and the resulting allocation of funds between the Mississippi, Washington, D.C., and Virginia claimants;
2. The existence and nature of all claims included within the aggregate settlement; and
3. The financial allocation to or participation of each claimant in the aggregate settlement reached with AHP, including but not limited

²² April 24, 2001, American Home Products Settlement Agreement, E. vol. 1, p. 25-48.

²³ Williamson Depo., E. vol. 1, p. 149, transcript p. 105 - p. 106.

²⁴ The settlement was an aggregate settlement. See Williamson Depo., E. vol. 2, p. 151, transcript pg. 112, lns. 7-12 and Miller Depo., E. vol. 2, p. 209, transcript pg. 76, lns. 5 -20. Williamson and Miller admitted their failure to disclose to clients. See Williamson Depo., E. vol. 2, p. 152, transcript pg. 117, lns. 2-21 and Miller Depo., E. vol. 2, p. 213, transcript pg. 92, lns. 6-20, and E. vol. 2, p. 215, transcript pg. 98, lns. 1-12.


to the basis for the related calculations, distributions of funds, and the required accounting for the aggregate settlement proceeds.

Despite Williamson's multiple representations that the Waggoners' case and resulting settlement would be and in fact were individually negotiated with AHP, the Waggoners learned through Discovery the settlement was in fact an aggregate settlement subject to the requirements of Rule 1.8 (g) of the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct. The Waggoners also relied upon this Court's August 12, 2004 opinion in *Williamson v. Edmonds*.²⁵ In *Williamson*, this Court noted, [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] This Court further noted:

 "Under Mississippi Rule of Professional Conduct 1.8(g), Williamson obtained a lump sum aggregate settlement for all of his clients during settlement negotiations. In determining whether the proceeds of the aggregate settlement were improperly or fraudulently distributed among the various plaintiffs in the American Home suit, the information requested by the Edmondses is highly relevant to their claims of breach of contract and breach of the duties of care and loyalty. **The client is entitled to know the amount of the settlement, and the basis for the calculations, distributions and accounting of the proceeds of the settlement with American Home.**"²⁷

Discovery also revealed that Williamson and Miller were obligated by the April 24, 2001 AHP Settlement Agreement to take whatever steps were necessary to comply with [REDACTED] of the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct.²⁸ However, the Disbursement Statement and other settlement documents presented to the Waggoners do not contain the disclosures necessary to fulfill the requirements of Rule 1.8(g). The Waggoners have testified that they would not have signed the

²⁵ *Williamson v. Edmonds*, 880 So. 2d 310 (Miss. 2004).

²⁶ *Id.* at 314.

²⁷ *Id.* at 320.

²⁸ April 24, 2001, American Home Products Settlement Agreement, E. vol. 1, p. 25-48.

B/c
does
not
comply
w/
rules,
pursuant
to plain language

of K, breach of K.

settlement related documents with AHP had Williamson and Miller fully disclosed to them the items required by the AHP Settlement Agreement and Rule 1.8 (g). The Waggoners assert that the [REDACTED] [REDACTED] because of Williamson's and Miller's failure to disclose the information required by the AHP Settlement Agreement and Rule 1.8 (g) and the common law duty of loyalty.

Despite the fact the AHP settlement was negotiated and reached in April of 2001 and documented in the April 24, 2001 AHP Settlement Agreement, the Waggoners actually first learned of the settlement two months later on or about June 25, 2001 when they received a telephone call directing them to meet Williamson and his assistant, Glinda "Kookie" Bowles, at the Adams County Airport that day.²⁹ On June 25, 2001 at the Adams County Airport while his chartered aircraft waited on the tarmac and Kookie Bowles retrieved refreshments, Williamson, for the first time, presented the Waggoners with a distribution statement setting forth the following monetary allocations:

Client Name:	Barthel Waggoner
Attorney(s):	Edward Williamson
Settlement Amount:	\$3,008,961.75
Attorney's Fee (45%):	\$1,354,032.79
MDL fees 3%:	\$90,268.85
MTLA Contribution:	\$30,042.87
Expenses:	
Miller & Associates (case specific):	\$ -0-
The Williamson Law Firm (case specific):	\$15,041.64
Generic Expenses:	\$47,475.10
Total Expenses:	\$62,516.74
Net to Client:	\$1,472,100.50

²⁹ Waggoner Affidavits, E. vol. 1, p. 51-54 and E. vol. 1, p. 55-58.

Williamson required the Waggoners' signatures on the distribution statement, or alternatively, the possible forfeiture of any right to the settlement which the Waggoners had just learned of.³⁰ The meeting at the airport lasted less than twenty minutes and did not afford the Waggoners an adequate opportunity to review and to question the distribution statement or the means by which the amounts on the statement had been determined.³¹

In the months following the signing of the Disbursement Statement, the Waggoners became aware of multiple, alleged wrongdoings by Williamson and engaged counsel in mid-2003 to request an accounting of the "case specific" and "generic" expenses deducted from the gross recovery allocated to the Waggoners. Rather than cooperate with the reasonable request for accounting information that had not been previously provided, [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] against Barthel Waggoner in the Hinds County Chancery Court seeking validation of Williamson's performance of the Representation Agreement executed with Barthel Waggoner. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] the Waggoners filed and served the underlying action in the Adams County Circuit Court which gives rise to this interlocutory appeal. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED], Mr. Waggoner successfully challenged the Hinds County venue, and the matter was transferred to the Adams County Chancery Court where it remains idle. Only the action in the Adams County Circuit Court, now before this Court, has been pursued by the parties.

In the Adams County Circuit Court action, the Waggoners through extensive Discovery involving over 60,000 documents, depositions, and experts uncovered

³⁰ B. Waggoner Depo., E. 3, p. 359, transcript pg. 151, lns. 18-20.

³¹ Waggoner Affidavits, E. vol. 1, p. 51-54 and E. vol. 1, p. 55-58.

numerous knowing and willful omissions, misrepresentations, and acts of fraud in the information presented on the Disbursement Statement. **The over-arching disputed issue in this matter is whether or not the Waggoners could knowingly agree to any of the terms of the Disbursement Statement in light of Williamson's and Miller's knowing and willful omissions, representations, and acts of fraud.** The Waggoners in the following paragraphs detail Williamson's and Miller's wrongdoings in relation to each line-item on the Disbursement Statement. The trial court erred in attempting to resolve the numerous factual disputes described in these paragraphs that follow but nevertheless left the Waggoners' four causes of action against Williamson and Miller intact.

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