IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-IA-00565-SCT

BARTHEL D. WAGGONER and JACQUELINE M. WAGGONER,

APPELLANTS

VS.

EDWARD WILLIAMSON, Individually; EDWARD WILLIAMSON, P.A.; and MICHAEL J. MILLER, Individually

APPELLEES

From the Circuit Court of Adams County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEES MICHAEL J. MILLER

Respectfully submitted on the 22nd day of April, 2008.

Robert C. Latham (MSB Jeremy P. Diamond (MSB TRULY, SMITH & LATHAM, P.L.L.C. P.O. Box 1307 Natchez, MS 39121

Telephone: (601) 442-6496 Facsimile: (601) 442-8874

Attorney for Appellee Michael J. Miller

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the case at bar, the Waggoners are seeking an award of punitive type damages where there has not been a showing of actual damages. They are seeking punitive type damages merely on the basis of alleged violations of provisions of the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct. However, the Plaintiffs cannot link the alleged violations of the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct to any actual damages, as they relate to the dismissed claims, since it is undisputed that the gross settlement received by the Plaintiffs was fair and reasonable. It is clear in Mississippi, that a compensatory damage award is necessary before punitive damages or sanctions can be considered when the cause of action is grounded in negligence and contract. In the case at bar, the trial court dismissed part of the Plaintiffs' claims because they were unable to prove damages as a result of the alleged negligence and because they did not produce any evidence against the contracts they executed.

Mississippi jurisprudence is clear that the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct are not intended to be a basis for civil liability. Although Defendant concedes that they can be instructive as to the standard of care an attorney is held too in a negligence analysis, a violation of the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct alone does not entitle the Plaintiff to punitive type damages such as disgorgement or forfeiture of attorneys' fees. The Plaintiffs' claims dismissed by the trial court are claims grounded in negligence and contract law. The trial court correctly concluded that the Plaintiffs failed to raise genuine issues of material fact as to the dismissed claims. This is evident in the Plaintiffs' response as articulated in their Brief, that they are entitled to the punitive damages sought without having to show actual damages in tort or contract.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the issue of whether a summary judgment is appropriate *de novo. Sec Townsend v. Estate of Gilbert*, 616 So. 2d 333, 335 (Miss. 1993). "There is no violation of a party's right to trial by jury when judgment is summarily entered in cases where no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Brown v. Credit Center, Inc.*, 444 So. 2d 358, 362 (Miss. 1983). If it can be shown that there are no genuine material issues, the burden of rebuttal falls upon the non-moving party. *Sec Wilbourn v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward*, 687 So. 2d 1205, 1213 (Miss. 1996). "Summary judgment is mandated where the respondent has failed to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case." *Galloway v. Travelers Insurance Co.*, 515 So. 2d 678, 683 (Miss. 1987). However, a genuine issue of fact must be of a material fact *and the existence of many contested issues of fact will not prevent summary judgement where none of the contested issues are material. Sec Grisham v. John Q. Long V.F.W. Post, 519 So. 2d 413, 415 (Miss. 1988). (Emphasis added).*

LAW AND ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THERE WERE NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT AS TO THE WAGGONERS' INABILITY TO PROVE THE NECESSARY ELEMENTS OF THEIR CLAIMS.

The Plaintiffs in the case at bar seek a monetary award for alleged injuries where they are unable to establish actual damages. In their Brief, Plaintiffs complain that "the trial court ruled that the Waggoners must prove damages in the same manner as a traditional negligence action." See Appellants Brief at p. 46. (Emphasis added). In their Amended Complaint, Waggoners asserted claims of breach of fiduciary duty, breach of contract⁴, and negligent misrepresentation. See R. Vol. 2, p. 168-182. The Waggoners attempt to prove these claims through alleged violations of the Mississippi Rules Professional Conduct. Throughout their Brief, the Waggoners fail to reconcile their claim that they would not have accepted the settlement upon disclosure of certain information and the stipulation that the gross settlement was fair and reasonable for their injuries. See R. Vol. 7, p. 890-891 and R. Vol. 3 of 7, p. 130-131. Miller submits that the trial court correctly granted partial summary judgment on the grounds that the Waggoners could not prove the dismissed claims.

This Court has recognized that legal malpractice may take the form of "a violation of the standard of care of exercising the knowledge, skill, and ability ordinarily possessed and exercised by members of the legal profession..., or the breach of a fiduciary duty." *Wilbourn*, 687 So. 2d at 1215. An attorney owes his client the duty of care, a duty of loyalty, and any duty imposed by

⁴Waggoners executed an employment contract for legal representation with Williamson. employment contract. As such, Miller will not address the contract issue herein as Williamson has fully and adequately addressed these issues in his Brief. See Williamson's Brief at p. 5, et seq.

contract. *Id.* "The duty of loyalty, or sometimes, the duty of fidelity speaks to the fiduciary nature of the lawyer's duties to his client, of confidentiality and of candor and disclosure." *Id.* Therefore, the Waggoners would have to prove an attorney-client privilege existed, the incumbent or applicable duty, a breach of that duty, and damages proximately caused by that breach. *See Montgomery v. Woolbright*, 904 So. 2d 1027, 1029 (Miss. 2004).

Therefore, the Waggoners are required to establish their claim pursuant to the applicable negligence analysis. The trial court found that there were no genuine issues of material fact as to the Waggoners' inability to prove all the elements of their claims. Miller submits that the Waggoners spend considerable time in their Brief raising issues that may be in dispute; however, the trial court correctly determined that those issues were not material as to their inability to carry their burden of proof on the dismissed claims. The trial court held:

But when the Court looked at this in detail, first of all, what the plaintiffs are asking this Court do is to Order the defendants to disgorge their fees and receive fees on a quantum merit basis, and they are seeking damages, actual damages, of one million one hundred thousand dollars and punitive damages of five million dollars. It's been brought out and stated and listed at a previous hearing, I know, that essentially this is a reasonable fair settlement, the gross settlement, in this case. Which it appears to the Court that it certainly is, three million eight thousand nine hundred sixty-one dollars and seventy-five cents.

See R. Vol. 13, p. 72-73. The trial court further held:

First of all, the Court finds that the plaintiffs in this case very clearly agreed to the settlement of this case in the gross amount of three million eight thousand nine hundred sixty-one dollars and seventy-five cents. There can be no question about that. This is fully set out, and the plaintiffs agreed to this amount. There is no genuine issue of material fact in this case that I can see where this should have been some other amount, or that anything that happened in this case changed this amount. There are some speculations. That's what the Court will call it. As to anything else, I see no genuine issue of dispute as to the attorney fees. They ask

the Court to set it by quantum merit, but very clearly by contract it was set out to be forty-five percent. The Court finds this is something that is not - - it's something that's customary in this type of litigation to seek the contingent fees in litigation such as this, and parties agree to contract, and they did contract for forty-five percent for attorney fees, and that's what was paid in this case.

I see no disputed - - I see no genuine issue of fact as to MDL, Multiple District Litigation fees. It was an Order for three percent. It was reduced to two percent. Once percent of this was later refunded.

I see no dispute as to the Mississippi Trial Lawyers contribution. This was a gift, a contribution. Just like you said, it was never represented as anything else. And Plaintiffs very clearly agreed to do this, to pay this. They checked off a box on the May 5 document that they authorized this, and then it was set out on the disbursement sheet.

Where the Court finds genuine issues of material fact are in the expenses that were deducted. There is evidence that there is a genuine issue of material fact as to the deduction of expenses. In particular, the case specific expenses to Williamson Law firm, there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether or not these expenses deducted are set out on here are legitimate proper expenses.

Also, as to generic expenses, there has been genuine issue of material fact as to whether or not these expenses were proper.

See R. Vol. 13, p. 73-75. The trial court summarized its decision by stating "[h]owever, the Court cannot look past the fact that the plaintiffs clearly agreed to the settlement amount, to the amount of attorney's fees, which were set out by contract, and this MTLA contribution." See 1d. at p. 75-76.

Miller submits that the Waggoners cannot prove the elements of their case as

Furthermore, the Waggoners testified that the problem was not with the gross settlement, but with how much was deducted.⁵ The trial

⁵Williamson addresses the undisputed factual and legal issues related to the items withheld from the gross settlement. Therefore, Miller will not re-argue those matters to the Court, but will join in agreement with Williamson's Brief and the trial court's order on the issue.

court recognized that issues of fact existed as to the accounting of the expenses, and it did not grant summary judgment on this issue. Furthermore, the trial court did not foreclose punitive damages if the Waggoners could prove willful and wonton misconduct on the part of the Defendants in their accounting of the expenses. Therefore, Miller moves this Court to affirm the trial court's order granting partial summary judgment on the Waggoners' claims against the Defendants.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE WAGGONERS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO PUNITIVE DAMAGES ON THE DISMISSED CLAIMS.

Miller has found that permits punitive type damages such as disgorgement of attorney's fees for damages sake. Miller submits that there must be support for the relief sought. "Mississippi law does not favor punitive damages; they are considered an extraordinary remedy and are allowed with caution and within narrow limits." *Bradfield v. Schwartz*, 936 So. 2d 931, 936 (Miss. 2006). "As a general rule, exemplary or punitive damages are added damages due because of an injury or wrong." *Id.* In Mississippi punitive damages are provided for under statutory authority. *See Miss. Code Ann. 11-1-65*. The statutory authority provides in pertinent part: "[i]n any action in which the claimant seeks an award of punitive damages, the trier of fact shall first determine whether compensatory damages are to be awarded and in what amount." *Id. at 11-1-65(1)(b)*. Furthermore, the punitive damages statute does not apply to contract claims. *Id. at 11-1-65(2)*.

As discussed herein, the trial court found as an undisputed issue that the Waggoners received a fair gross settlement through the representation of Williamson, Blackmon, and Miller. The Waggoners have not disputed the fairness of the gross settlement nor did they refuse to

execute the settlement documents or seek to return the settlement funds to pursue their claim in court outside of the settlement. The Waggoners are both very intelligent and educated people. The trial court was justified in finding, based on the evidence presented, that the Waggoners could not prove the elements of the dismissed claims nor could they establish the right to punitive damages or sanctions pursuant to those claims. Therefore, Miller moves this Court to uphold the trial court's order granting partial summary judgment to the Defendants in the case at bar.

III. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE MISSISSIPPI RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT ARE NOT IN AND OF ITSELF A BASIS FOR CIVIL LIABILITY.

In the case at bar, Plaintiffs attempt to establish that an alleged violation of the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct ("Rules") establishes civil liability and the right to monetary relief without actual damages or injury. As to this issue, the trial court held:

First of all, the Court would note for the record that the Court is not deciding any ethical breaches in this case by the attorneys, except insofar as they apply to this action at law, which is an action at law for breach of certain duties and for damages resulting therefrom.

See r. Vol. 13, p. 67. The trial court further held:

You're not up before the bar association prosecuting these attorneys. What you're doing is representing your client seeking a claim for damages before this Court of law. And you're doing that in the same way we do in a negligence action or anything else.

Now, what I'm saying is that if you show this breach of this duty the only igenuine issue of fact as to the damages is this issue is about the

See Id. at p. 88. As to the role of the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct in a civil case, this Court has held:

Violations of a Rule should not give rise to a cause of action nor should it create any presumption that a duty has been breached. The Rules are designed to provide guidance to lawyers and to provide structure for regulating conduct through disciplinary agencies. They are not designed to be a basis for civil liability.

See Wilbourn, 687 So. 2d at 1215.6 The Court further held that "[t]he Code of Professional Conduct is not used as a measuring stick to determine civil liability for legal malpractice." *Id.* at 1216.

The Waggoners spend considerable time arguing that the Defendants violated the Mississippi Rule of Professional Conduct R. 1.8(g) for failing to provide certain disclosures. The Waggoners state what they think are the required disclosure pursuant to the rule, but Rule 1.8(g) requires that "[a] lawyer who represents two or more clients shall not participate in making an aggregate settlement of the claims . . . unless each client consents after consultation, including disclosure of the existence and nature of all the claims . . . involved and of the participation of each person in the settlement." *Mississippi Rule of Professional Conduct R. 1.8(g).* The Waggoners feel they are entitled to punitive damages as a result of the alleged violation of this rule.

[&]quot;Waggoners rely heavily on case law outside of Mississippi as being conclusive in the issues in the case at bar. However, Texas jurisprudence takes the same approach to its rules of professional conduct. *See Wright v. Sydow*, 173 S.W.3d 534, 549 (Tex. App. 2004) (Recognizing that "[a] violation of the Disciplinary Rules does not necessarily establish a cause of action.").

⁷Waggoners attempt to compare Mississippi's rule with that of Texas Rule. However, Miller submits that the Texas Rule is broader as it requires notice of "the nature and extent of the participation of each person in the settlement." Compare Tex. Disciplinary R. Prof. Conduct 1.8(f) with Miss. Rule Prof. Conduct R. 1.8(g).

Miller submits that an alleged violation of Rule 1.8(g) cannot form the basis for a breach of fiduciary duty claim against the Defendants. Waggoners cannot show that there were any damages arising from the alleged violation of this rule. Furthermore, the trial court had ample evidence that showed the Waggoners knew other people were involved in the litigation due to their exposure to the weight loss drug and they knew that if you did not execute the settlement documents then you did not participate in the settlement. The Waggoners have proffered no basis for their conclusions as to the scope and breadth of the required disclosures in Rule 1.8(g). The trial court correctly held that the dismissed claims cannot be maintained on a basis of an alleged violation of the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct absent a showing of actual damages or some other basis. In the case at bar, Waggoners allege that the Defendants breached their fiduciary duties in the way the Williams case was settled. However, Waggoners admit that their gross settlement was fair and reasonable. The trial court found this to be persuasive in holding that as a suit at law the Waggoners must prove injury arising out of the breach of duty before relief can be ordered and not just allege a violation of the rules of professionalism to sustain an award of punitive damages.

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